
 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
 
26 August 2021 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Council Chamber, Marmion 
House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth, B79 7BZ on Tuesday, 7th September, 2021 at 
6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are requested to attend. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   

 

4 Applications for Consideration  

 Summary of Applications received: 
 
 

 a Application 0012/2019 Reserved Matters for 215 dwellings and 
associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4 a&b 
Former Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive  (Pages 9 - 20) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director, Growth & Regeneration) 
 
Application no: 0012/2019 
Development: Reserved Matters application for the construction of 215 
dwellings and associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4 
a&b of the development 
Location:  Former Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive, Amington, Tamworth, 
B77 4EG 
 

 b Application 0556/2018 Reserved Matters for 91 dwellings and 
associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4c Former 
Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive  (Pages 21 - 30) 

  (Report of the Assistant Director, Growth & Regeneration) 
 
 
Application no: 0556/2018 
Development: Reserved matters application for the construction of 252 
dwellings and associated landscaping and open space Phase 3 
Location:  Former Municipal Golf Course Eagle Drive Amington Tamworth 
 

Presentation pack attached - 07.09.2021 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 

Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk


The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about being filmed, please contact a member 

of Democratic Services before selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To Councillors: J Chesworth, M Bailey, D Box, P Brindley, S Goodall, M J Greatorex, 
J Harper, T Jay, D Maycock, K Norchi, S Pritchard, R Rogers and J Wade. 

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 6th JULY 2021 

 

 

 

PRESENT: Councillor J Chesworth (Chair), Councillors M Bailey (Vice-Chair), 

D Box, S Goodall, M J Greatorex, J Harper, D Maycock, K Norchi, 

R Rogers and J Wade 

 

The following officers were in attendance: Stuart Evans (Solicitor to the Council), 

Anna Miller (Assistant Director – Growth & Regeneration), Sally Price (Senior 

Planning Officer), Richard Powell (Planning Policy and Delivery Team Leader) 

and Jodie Small (Legal, Democratic and Corporate Support Assistant) 

 

Apologies received from: Councillor(s) P Brindley, T Jay and S Pritchard 

 

28 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8th June 2021 were approved and signed as a correct record. 

 

(Moved by Councillor S Goodall and seconded by Councillor R Rogers) 

 

29 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

There were no Declarations of Interest. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 6 July 2021 

 

 

2 

 

 

30 APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION  

 

30.1 Planning application  0004/2021 Land adjacent to Co-op Garage, Bonehill  

 

Application number 0004/2021 

 

 

Development 

 

Full planning permission for the construction of a flat roofed, 

3 storey office building with a car park totalling 39 no. spaces 

(Re-submission of application 0115/2020) 

 

Location Land adjacent to Co-op Garage, Bonehill Road, TAMWORTH 

 

RESOLVED 

 

Refused – reasons outlined below 

 

 

Reasons for refusal 

 

 

1 The proposed development is for the erection of an office block on a site that 

is allocated for housing. The scheme does not propose any residential units. As 

such the proposed development has the potential to harm the borough’s 

ability to deliver its housing need. The proposed development is not compliant 

with Policy HG1- Housing, as set out in the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-

2031 

 

2 

 

The submitted Sequential Test required by policy EC1 – Hierarchy of Centres 

for Town Centre Uses, fails to demonstrate that there is no sequentially 

preferable site available for the proposal. Additionally, the proposal would 

prejudice the delivery of other strategic objectives. The proposed development 

is not compliant with Policy EC1 as set out in the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 

2006-2031. 

Page 6



Planning Committee 6 July 2021 

 

 

3 

 

 

3 The application has not provided sufficient details within the Flood 

Risk Assessment or proposed plans for the Environment Agency 

and Local Lead Flood Authority to adequately assess the potential 

risks associated with the site being within Flood Zones 2 and 3, or 

the potential for the proposed development of increasing the risk 

of Surface and fluvial flooding. It is therefore contrary to policy 

SU4 of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 

 

It was noted during the meeting that there had been an error within the report para 6.4.4, 

should read as below, 

 

The application is compliant with the objectives and policies contained within the 

NPPF, para 109, compliant with policy SU2 of Tamworth Borough Council’s Local 

Plan 2006-2031, and therefore compliant with the interests of highway safety”. 

 

(Moved by Councillor S Goodall and seconded by Councillor D Maycock) 

  

 

 Chair  

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 7
th 

September 2021 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a



 

Application Number:  0012/2019 
 
Development:  Reserved Matters application for the construction of 215 dwellings and 

associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4 a&b of the 
development  

 
Location:  Former Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive, Amington, Tamworth, B77 

4EG 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 On 25

th
 January 2016 outline planning permission was granted subject to conditions and a section 

106 agreement for the demolition of clubhouse and construction of up to 1100 dwellings, primary 
school, local centre, parking, comprehensive green infrastructure comprising community woodland, 
community park, extension to local nature reserve, formal and informal open spaces, footpaths, 
cycleways, water areas (including enhancement to existing ponds and creating a sustainable urban 
drainage system), landscaping and vehicular access. 

 
1.2 This application represents detailed proposals for the fourth phase of that development. Phase four 

is located to the south of the site. The main access for this phase through phase 2b which is 
accessed from Eagle Drive and this will then provide access to the final phase of the development. 
 

1.3 Approval of reserved matters for the first phase were granted planning permission for 218 dwellings 
reference 0136/2016 at the Planning Committee on the 7

th
 June 2016 and a further reserved matters 

for the second phase were granted planning permission reference 0400/2016 for 254 dwelling at the 
Planning Committee on the 8

th
 November 2016. An application for an extension to the local nature 

reserve also recently has been approved reference 0220/2017 on the 6
th
 September 2017. Phase 3 

was granted on 6
th

 June 2018 reference 0129/2018 and various amendments have been made and 
conditions discharged as indicated in the history below. In addition, phase 4c is subject to a further 
application 0556/2018 is to be considered alongside the current scheme. 

 
1.4 Having accepted the principle of the development, by granting outline planning permission, 

members are now required to consider matters relating to layout, landscaping, scale and 
appearance. 

 
 
2 Policies 

 
2.1 Local Plan Policies 

 
SS1  - The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
HG1 – Housing  
HG2 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 
HG4 – Affordable Housing 
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5 – Design and New Development 
SU1 - Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU4 - Flood Risk and Water Management 
SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and Minerals and Soils 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Appendix A – Housing Trajectory 
Tamworth Design Guide SPD 
 

2.2 National Policies 
 
NPPF 2021 
NPPG 

Page 10



National Design Guide 2019 
 

3 Proposal 
 
3.1 The site is to the eastern edge of the built-up limits of Tamworth. Phases 4A and 4B are served from 

Phase 2b which in turn is served by a new roundabout junction on Eagle Drive. 

3.2 The application was originally for 219 dwellings. However, as shown on the Site Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 
(Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 Rev. C) and the Site Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-
401 Rev. C), the application is now for 214 dwellings on a site extending to 13.36 hectares 
(including all open space and roads) of this 5.05 hectares will be public open space. This equates to 
a gross density of 27 dwellings per hectare. 

3.3 The development includes 170 private houses and 45 affordable dwellings, overall in line with 
policy. In overall terms the mix is 18 one bed, 88 two bed, 59 three bed 50 four and five bed. 

3.4 The dwellings will be provided in the southern part of the site, adjacent to phase 2b and the 
community woodland area. The layout of the scheme will incorporate a road which loops round in a 
semi-circular form, typical of 1930’s layouts, and extends as a spine link through to the final phase 
4c, providing access to all the properties with culs de sac off. This route will be traffic calmed to 
provide a safe living environment for residents.  

3.5 The scheme incorporates dedicated footpath and cycle links along both the eastern and western 
boundaries, linking with other phases to enable direct and safe movement from north to south. The 
proposal will involve the removal of a number of existing trees and shrubs, but where possible trees 
of high quality have been retained and incorporated into the layout. 

3.6 Consideration has been given to the incorporation of existing drainage ditches, and the provision of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems into the design and layout, utilising open space to assist in the 
delivery of these features where possible. 

3.7 The dwellings are 2 storey in height, mainly detached with a limited number of smaller dwellings. 
They are of traditional design made of brick and render, and having tiled roofs. All dwellings, have 
private garden space enclosed with wall/fence.  

3.8 The site comprises part of the former municipal golf course and has an undulating topography. The 
fairways to the course are mainly monoculture grass, but are edged with a mix of mature trees that 
predated the course and more recent planting carried out to facilitate the use of the land for golf. 
Additional planting will be added to the community woodland area which bounds the site with 
boundary treatment carefully considered to ensure adequate amenity for residents. The eastern side 
of the site falls beneath an overhead power line and is therefore retained as open space with a link 
to a further group of houses and includes 2 apartment blocks. 

4 Relevant Site History 
 

 

O 0088/2015 Outline application for the demolition of clubhouse and construction of upto 1100 
dwellings, primary school, local centre, parking, comprehensive green infrastructure 
comprising community woodland, community park, extension to local nature 
reserve, formal and informal open spaces, footpaths, cycleways, water areas 
(including enhancement to existing ponds and creating a sustainable urban 
drainage system), landscaping and vehicular access - Approved subject to 
conditions and a S106 agreement 25th January 2016. 

DISCON 0086/2016 Discharge of conditions 6 (Design Code), 7 (Landscape Strategy), 8 (Phasing Plan), 
9 (Tree Removal/Protection Plan), 10 (Foul & Surface Water Drainage) and 11 
(S.U.D.S) of planning permission 0088/2015 

DISCON 0202/2016 Discharge of condition 15 [Ecological Enhancement Strategy] of Planning 
Permission 0088/2015  

DISCON 0305/2016 Discharge of condition 6 of Planning Application 0136/2016 [cycle storage facilities] 

DISCON 0315/2016 Discharge of Conditions of Planning Application 0088/2015: Condition 17 [land 
contamination]; Condiition 21 [landscape management] and Condition 28 [refuse 
storage facilities]  

DISCON 0343/2016 Discharge of conditions of Planning Application 0088/2015: 13 [drainage plans]; 14 
surface water drainage design]; 18 [Written Scheme of Investigation]; 24 [design of 
Public Open Space]; 26 [hard and soft landscaping] and 27 [lighting scheme]. 

Page 11



RM 0136/2016  Reserved matters application for the construction of 218 dwellings and associated 
landscaping and open space Phase 1 – Approved 1st July 2016 

RM 0400/2016 Reserved matters application for 254 units and associated landscape and public 
open space Phase 2(A and B) – Approved 1st July 2016 

DISCON 0091/2017 Discharge of conditions 19 (no build zones) of planning permission 0088/2015 
AM 0153/2017 Non material amendment to application 0136/2016 to allow for additional window on 

gable end of plot 53 only (house type C1) 

AM 0154/2017 Non material amendment to application 0400/2016 to allow for additional windows 
on the gable end of Apartments A4 & B10 (plots 367-372) and House Type C1 
(plots 445 - 569)  

RM 0220/2017 Reserved matters application for Nature Reserve Extension – Approved 5th 
September 2017 

RM 0387/2017 Reserved matters application for the construction of 269 dwellings and associated 
landscaping and public open space 

DISCON 0321/2017 Discharge of condition 16 of planning permission 0088/2015 [invertebrate survey] 

AM 0334/2017 Non-material amendment to substitute brick types on plots 70 to 102 

DISCON 0376/2017 Discharge of Condition 6 [lighting and security of proposed apartments] and 
Condition 7 [cycle storage facilities] relating to Planning Permission 0400/2016 

DISCON 0381/2017 Discharge of Conditions relating to outline planning permission 0088/2015: 
Conditions 1 & 2 [Reserved Matters approval]; Condition 3 [commencement date]; 
Condition 13 [drainage]; Condition 14 [surface water]; Condition 17 [Site 
Investigation Survey]; Condition 21 Landscape Management plan]; Condition 22 
[Construction Management plan]; Condition 25 [finished site and ground floor 
levels]; Condition 28 [storage of refuse]; Condition 29 [Noise Survey]; Condition 32 
[Travel Plan]; Condition 33 [site access]; Condition 34 [pedestrian crossing]; 
Condition 35 [relocation of bus stops]; Condition 36 [footway improvements]; 
Condition 37 [improvements at Glascote Road/Mercian Way roundabout]; Condition 
41 internal road access] 

DISCON 0376/2018 Discharge of Conditions relating to Planning Permission 0088/2015: Condition 1 
[Reserved Matters approval]; Condition 2 [Reserved Matters time limit submission]; 
Condition 17 [site investigation]; Condition 21 [Landscape Management Plan]; 
Condition 24 [Public Open Space]; Condition 28 [storage of refuse]; Condition 31 
[Sustainable Drainage System] and Condition 41 [internal access arrangements] 

RM 0343/2018 Proposed cycleway through community woodland 

RM 0129/2018 Reserved matters application for the construction of 252 dwellings and associated 
landscaping and open space [Resubmission of application 0387/2017] 

DISCON 0436/2019 Discharge of Conditions relating to Planning Permission 0088/2015: Condition 20 
(British Pipelines Agency), Condition 22 (Construction Management Plan - Phase 3) 
& Condition 31 (SUDS Scheme) 

DISCON 0081/2019 Discharge of conditions relating to planning permission 0088/2015: condition 12 
(updated badger survey with Phase 4 application), condition 17 (geotechnical and 
geoenvironmental survey) and condition 27 (lighting plans) 

DISCON 0104/2021 Discharge of Condition relating to Planning Permission 0088/2015 (Condition 17 - 
Site Investigation Report for Driving Range Area) 

   
5 Consultation Responses 
 
5.1 Staffordshire County Council (Highways) 
 
 Various amendments submitted to address concerns relating to visibility splays. 

There are no objections on Highway grounds to the proposed development subject to the following 
conditions being included on any approval:  
1 Before development commences, details of an unfettered pedestrian and cycle access to and from 
adjacent land to the east. 
2 Before first occupation of any dwelling served by the relevant private drive, visibility splays shall be 
provided at private drives as shown on the Site Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 
Rev. C) and the Site Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-401 Rev. C). 
3 Before development commences, details of visibility splays at the junctions of the private drive to 
serve plots 886 to 888, and 933 to 934 with the proposed adopted highway. 
4 Before development commences, details of appropriate cycle stores for the apartment blocks. 
5 The proposed highway to the frontage of plot 981 shall be provided in accordance with the Site 
Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 Rev. C) and not in accordance with the Surface 
Materials Sheet 1 Drawing (No. 1671-08-02-441 Rev. C). 

Page 12



6 Before development commences, details of design for the highway where pinch points are shown 
including a justification for any chicanes to be used, or their removal as necessary. 
7 Before development commences, appropriate details of proposed highway surfacing including any 
areas of block paving. 
8 Before development commences, at the locations of the vehicle access crossings to serve plots 
902, 969, and 977, details of appropriate revised locations for the up and down ramps of raised 
junction tables so as not to conflict with vehicle accesses. 
9 Before development commences, details of a footway on the northbound side of the carriageway 
between plots 926 (apartment) and 932. 
10 Before development commences, details of design of a scheme for highway trees including 
assessment of visibility splays, details of species, tree pits, impact on street lighting. 
11 Prior to first occupation of any permitted new dwelling, the parking area and turning areas for that 
dwelling shown on the Site Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 Rev. C) and the Site 
Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-401 Rev. C) shall be provided and thereafter be 
retained for the life of the development for their designated purposes. 
Informatives 
This consent will require approval under Section 7 of the Staffordshire Act 1983 and will require a 
Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Please contact Staffordshire County Council to ensure that 
approvals and agreements are secured before commencement of works. 

  

5.2 Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) 
 

This development falls within the catchments of Amington Heath Community School and Landau 
Forte Academy- Amington. The relevant Outline Application for this site is 0088/2015. The REM 
application details a development which is scheduled to provide 219 dwellings of the 1100 dwellings 
expected from the original outline approval. 
  
The previous REMs were 0556/2018 providing 93 dwellings, 0493/2018 providing 195 dwellings 
(partial re plan of 0400/2016), 0129/2018 providing 252, 0400/2016 now providing 65 dwellings (256 
dwellings on original 0400/2016, 0396/2017, substitutes 14 dwellings for 10 (increase of 4) and less 
195 on 0493/2018), 0240/2017 additional 3 dwellings and 0136/2016 providing 218 dwellings. 
 
A Section 106 Agreement was signed when the Outline Application was granted, and the education 
contribution amount and terms should be calculated in line with this. In summary those triggered 
through these REM’s are: 
Primary Contribution - The developer will pay £570,000 Index Linked prior to the commencement of 
the development, £1,780,000 Index Linked prior to commencement of the 100

th
 Dwelling, 

£2,100,000 Index Linked prior to commencement of the 250
th
 Dwelling and £2,100,000 Index Linked 

prior to commencement of the 550
th
 Dwelling. 

Secondary Contribution - The developer will pay 10% of the secondary school contribution (total 
£3,490,620) prior to commencement of the development, 15% prior to commencement of the 110

th
 

Dwelling, 25% prior to commencement of the 250
th
 Dwelling and 25% prior to commencement of the 

500
th
 Dwelling. 

 
5.3 Staffordshire County Council (Ecologist) 
 

The proposed boundary fences and walls will present solid barriers to wildlife, particularly 
hedgehogs. This is important because a third of hedgehogs have been lost in the last 20 years, and 
one major cause is barriers to foraging behaviour that force them onto roads or other unsuitable 
places. A viable population needs access to about 90hectares of connected land. Hedgehogs are 
listed as a species of Principal Importance under the NERC Act (2006) and is classed as 
‘vulnerable’ in England (Mammal Society, 2020). 
A 13 x13 cm gap should be provided at the base of barriers between gardens so that all garden 
space is accessible. 
 
Conclusions and recommendations - Further information is required: 
Submission of boundary fence details for gardens that include gaps of minimum 130mm square at 

ground level at least every 10m running length or that do not seal to the ground at all between posts 
with a 120mm gap from fence base to ground. 
 
Planning policy and legal context 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) s.170 
Policy EN4 of the adopted Local Plan follows NPPF guidance in stating: “Non-designated sites, 
including the canal and river networks that provide the opportunity for habitat enrichment to create 

Page 13



more robust and functional ecological units will be safeguarded, particularly if they form part of a 
green or blue link, including links to the wider green infrastructure network outside Tamworth.” and 
“Development will be supported that preserves designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites,…., 
maintains the favourable conservation status of populations of protected species and incorporates 
existing landscape features. Development should not result in a net loss of biodiversity by ensuring 
that where harm to biodiversity is unavoidable and it has been demonstrated that no alternative sites 
are suitable, development is adequately mitigated or as a last resort, compensated for; otherwise 
planning permission should be refused. Development should create and reinforce links between 
semi-natural habitats, including habitats beyond the Tamworth boundary.” 
 
TBC Tree Officer 
 
No objections 
 

5.4 Staffordshire County Council (Local Lead Flood Authority) 
 
We have reviewed the updated submission and can confirm that we have no objection to the Phase 
4 proposals at this stage. Please note that the full surface water drainage strategy detailed design 
for phase 4 will need to be submitted for review at the discharge of conditions stage. It is understood 
that this is covered by conditions attached to outline application 0088/2015 (notably c.14). 
 

5.5 Severn Trent Water Authority 
 
I presume this is relating to development: 0088/2015 - 0445/2018 Former Tamworth Municipal Golf 
Course, Eagle Drive, Amington, Tamworth, B77 4EG, where all surface water is discharging to 
ponds and a watercourse, and foul sewage is discharging to the public foul sewer agreed under 
SAP S104 8325181. (Discharge of conditions application approved). 
 

5.6 North Warwickshire Borough Council 

 
No comments 
  

5.7 Joint Waste Services 
 

General requirements in relation to waste facility requirements provided.  Refuse vehicles will not be 
taken onto private drives/roads unless indemnified to do so 

 
5.8 Staffordshire Police (Architectural Liaison Officer) 
 

Response received outlining general points, standard requirements for new housing development. 
These will be sent to the developer as an informative. 
 

5.9 Staffordshire Fire and Rescue 
 
Vehicle access 
Appropriate supplies of water for fire fighting and vehicle access should be provided at the site,  
roads and drives upon which appliances would have to travel in order to proceed to within 45 metres 
of any point within the property, should be capable of withstanding the weight of a Staffordshire 
firefighting appliance (G.V.W. of 17800 Kg). 
Automatic water suppression systems (sprinklers) 
In the interest of preventing deaths and injuries from fires within domestic dwellings Staffordshire 
Fire and Rescue Service strongly recommend the provision of a sprinkler system to a relevant 
standard. Early consultation with the Fire Service when designing buildings which incorporate 
sprinklers may have a significant impact on reducing fire deaths and injuries in domestic premises 
and financial implications for all stakeholders. 
Further information can be found at www.bafsa.org.uk - the website of the British Automatic Fire 
Sprinklers Association Ltd. 
 

5.10 Strategic Planning and Development Service 
 
The proposal provides 45 affordable dwellings which equates to 21% of dwellings in this phase and 
complies with the policy HG4 in general terms. 

Page 14



Policy HG5: Housing mix: The mix for phase 4 a&b is skewed towards 1 beds and 4+ beds so on its 
own does not meet the policy. When looking at the site overall, however, the housing mix is broadly 
policy compliant (albeit 2% down for 2 beds and 2% up for 4 beds). 
 
Relationship between housing development and adjacent Community Woodland 
The western edge of phase 4 a&b abuts the edge of the community woodland. Redrow and TBC 
have been working closely with each other over the past 2 years to ensure that there are sufficient 
access points between the built development and open space. In this phase there are two 
opportunities for access to the woodland from the development; at the hammerhead and near the 
apartment block to the SW part of the phase. As soon as practicable, work should be carried out on 
these areas to smooth out any levels differences, to ensure as much as possible the entrances are 
accessible for all park users. Work will continue between TBC and Redrow to ensure the 
development of the community woodland continues. 

 
6 Additional Representations 
 
8.1 Neighbouring properties have been consulted however no letters of objections have been received 

as part of the application process. 
 

7 Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 The grant of outline planning permission with conditions and a S106 agreement means that the 

principle has already been agreed. Notwithstanding this position there are a number of detailed 
matters subject to conditions imposed and these are being assessed alongside this “reserved 
matters” application. 

The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Policy context 

 Layout/Highways 

 Scale and appearance 

 Landscaping (including ecology and biodiversity) 

 Flood risk and surface water drainage 
 

7.2 Policy context 

7.2.1 In considering the issues listed above reference has to be made to the provisions of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. In this regard there are site specific policies and more generic 
policies that are applicable. 

7.2.2 Policy HG2 is a site specific policy and its contents were fully considered at the outline planning 
application. Its provisions considered the wider impact of the development and the necessary 
infrastructure required to support the development. The requirements of this policy have led to 
conditions being applied to the outline planning consent and a S106 to deliver the infrastructure. 

 
7.2.3 Policy HG4: Affordable Housing policy states that new residential development involving 10 or more 

dwellings should provide 20% affordable housing on site with a mix of 25% intermediate tenure and 
75% rented (split between social rented and affordable rented). The proposal provides 45 affordable 
dwellings which equates to 21% of dwellings in this phase and complies with the policy in general 
terms.  

 
7.2.4 Policy HG5 Housing Mix requires that in granting planning permission for residential development, 

housing sizes and types that reflect local needs will be secured. 
 

Proposals for housing development should achieve the following mix of units: 
 

 4% of new housing will be 1 bedroom sized units 

 42% of new housing will be 2 bedroom sized units 

 39% of new housing will be 3 bedroom sized units 

 15% of new housing will be 4 bedroom or more sized units 
 

The proposals now before the authority provide 2% one bed, 41% two bed, 38% three bed 19% four 
bed and five bed. It is considered that given that this proposal represents approximately 20% of the 

Page 15



overall total of 1100 proposed at the former golf course site there is sufficient flexibility available to 
ensure that the overall aspirations for the Borough are achieved. 

7.2.5 Policy HG6 Housing Density requires that new residential development will make efficient and 
effective use of land, while enhancing the character and quality of the area it is located in. Where 
viable and appropriate to the local context and character it will be expected to achieve the following 
densities on the sites net developable area of between 30 and 40 dwellings per hectare. The Plan 
indicates that the net developable area for sites over 2 hectare is 60% of the gross area. The site is 
13.36 ha of which 5.05ha is open space. On basis, and using a gross developable area of 13.36 
hectare (net developable area of 8.35 hectare), the density would be 25.6 dwellings per hectare.This 
compares with 28.8 dwellings per hectare overall across the whole site which is considered 
sufficient given the constraints of topography and inclusion of the local centre and community 
woodland. 

 
7.3. Layout/Highways 
 
7.3.1 Policy EN5 Design of New Development is of particular relevance and expects that high quality 

buildings and places will be achieved across Tamworth with particular attention paid to the 
enhancement of the town centre, conservation areas, the Sustainable Urban Extensions and 
Regeneration Priority Areas. Poor design or design that fails to take the opportunities available to 
improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions will be refused. 

 
7.3.2 The proposals are considered to be in accordance with policy EN5 in all aspects as detailed below. 

The use of prominent buildings in key locations assists with legibility, meaning that people unfamiliar 
with the area can navigate around without difficulty. In negotiations with the applicant officers have 
successfully improved the quality of the boundary treatments, providing quality and character to the 
development. The road network has been designed, and where necessary revised to ensure that 
large vehicles can pass through the estate, but at a speed commensurate with the residential area. 
This has involved the introduction of traffic calming measures in the form of raised surfacing in 
appropriate locations. 

 
7.3.3 All properties will have car parking provision in accordance with the requirements set out in the 

Tamworth Local Plan. The majority of parking is provided in curtilage, but where his is not achieved 
it is located in convenient locations close to the front door of the property. 

 
7.3.4 In drawing up the masterplan for the development at the outline planning application stage great 

care was taken to ensure that movement around the site was achievable by a variety of methods. 
The masterplan included a network of paths and cycleways to facilitate this movement. These 
features have been delivered in the first phases with clear and negotiable routes across the site, 
ensuring that community facilities and open spaces are well linked. This theme continues into phase 
four. 

 
7.3.5 Some concerns have been raised from highways relating to minor points in terms of the layout but 

following reconsultations on amended plans (additional information received 22/12/2020) (amended 
plans received 24/02/2021), additional information received on 17/06/2021, and additional 
information received on 27/07/2021; conditions are added to deal with those matters, mainly 
affecting visibility splays.  
 

7.4 Scale and appearance 
 
7.4.1 The individual dwellings proposed are pleasant, with a variety of detailing and individual elements of 

design. This includes the use of simple projections of structure such as bay windows and small 
gables and variations to the frontage design is to achieve relief to the dwellings elevations which is 
aided by the provision of door and window reveals. The building materials and details will vary in 
different areas of the site however an overall pallet of primarily red brick will tie the development 
together and provide visual variation.  

 
7.4.2 In terms of scale the dwellings are considered to be appropriate.  The proposal provides “on plot” 

landscaping, which is consistent with the original layout and provides a well-designed high quality 
layout. Officers have fully considered the importance of policy EN5 and their discussions with the 
applicant have resulted in a number of revisions to the original submitted scheme, including removal 
of forward projecting garages that appeared too prominent.  

 

Page 16



7.4.3 In addition great care has been taken to ensure that corner plots are designed in an appropriate 
manner with walls set back to create active frontages avoiding blank gables. Care has also been 
taken to ensure that open spaces are subject to natural surveillance, making them safer for 
residents and people passing through the development. Materials have also been chosen with care. 

 
7.4.4  It is considered that the dwellings are of a scale which is in keeping with the local vernacular, being 

of 2 storey in height. This arrangement, with the undulating topography, will ensure that an 
interesting and varied living environment is created. 

 
7.5 Landscaping (including ecology and biodiversity) 
 
7.5.1 The open spaces shown on the reserved matter application reflect those sought in the masterplan, 

and ensure the delivery of a balanced community where the housing does not dominate the area.  
 
7.5.2 Overall, the landscaping provides the retention of mature trees, in accordance with the 

recommendation of the Council’s Tree Officer and County Ecologist. This scheme creates visually 
pleasing appearance when within and adjacent to the scheme. The landscaping scheme echoes the 
improvements made within Phase 2 of the scheme and reinforces the proposed scheme approved 
previously.   

 
7.5.3 The open space is generally in accordance with the overall masterplan of the scheme which 

includes the community woodland to the west of the scheme and provides suitable access points. 
The proposed cycle and footpath network provides links between the south and north of the site. 
The hierarchy, position and routes of the footpaths meet the aspirations of the master plan. Any 
concerns regarding amenity of residents in respect of the adjacent community woodland and 
proximity of bunds has been mitigated by additional planting schemes and boundary walls and 
fencing. 

 
7.6 Flood risk and surface water drainage 
 
7.6.1 Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management requires all new development, to demonstrate that 

there is no increased risk of flooding to existing properties and shall seek to improve existing flood 
risk management. As there is no objection from the Staffordshire County Council (Local Lead Flood 
Authority) in respect of this application, the development complies with policy SU4.  

 
7.6.2 The drainage conditions of the outline permission have been discharged. 
 

 
8 Conclusion 
 
8.1 It is considered that the details of layout, landscaping, scale and appearance of phase 4 A&B of the 

development meet with expectations set out within the masterplan agreed at the outline planning 
application in terms of the location of the housing, the associated open space and infrastructure 
required to support the development.  

8.2 The amount of affordable housing, mix and density comply with the requirements of local plan 
policies HG4, HG5 and HG6. 

8.3 The layout provides a road, cycleway and path network that fully supports the development 
proposed, with car parking provision adequate to meet the reasonable needs of the development in 
accordance with standards set out in Appendix C of the adopted Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

8.4 It is also considered that the scale and appearance of the development is in keeping with the 
character of the area and is of a high quality in accordance with the requirements of the policy EN5 
of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

8.5 The landscaping of the scheme has been detailed in a manner that supports the masterplan, but 
also recognises the importance of retaining existing trees of quality and providing the basis for a 
improving the habitat by choosing appropriate tree, shrub and grass species. This is in accordance 
with policy EN3: Open Space and Green and Blue Links and policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity. 

 
 
Recommendation;  APPROVE SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS Page 17



Conditions / Reasons 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings and documents including the recommendations and specifications contained therein 
insofar as they do not prejudice the discharge of conditions attached to the original outline 
permission 0088/2015 or those below. 
 

1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Site Plan Sheet 1 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Site Plan Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Coloured Site Plan Sheet 1  
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Coloured Site Plan Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev B – Materials Plan Sheet 1 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev B – Materials Plan Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Enclosures Plan Sheet 1 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Enclosures Plan Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Highway Adoption Sheet 1 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Highway Adoption Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Proposed Surface Materials Sheet 1  
1671-08-02-4 - Rev C – Proposed Surface Materials Sheet 2 
1671-08-02-4 - Phase 4 Overhead Section 
1671-08-02-4 - Phase 4 Pipeline section   
House types  - A1, A2, B6, B7, B8, B9, B13, B18, C2, C9, C10, C11, C16, C17,      
D2, D4, D9, D10, D11, E2, Apartments 1 BED; 2 BED 

  
Reason: To define this permission. 

 
2. Prior to the occupation of any permitted dwelling the parking and turning areas for that dwelling shall 

be provided. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained at all times for their 
designated purposes.  

 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
3. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping and boundary 

treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in 
accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no 
walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected forward of the principal elevations and 
side elevations of the dwelling, or boundary walls or fences to those dwelling, except as authorised 
under the submitted application, without the prior grant of planning permission on an application 
made in that regard to the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to maintain the character of street, public space and adjacent footpath as secured 
under the plans hereby approved in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D and E of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-
enacting that Order), The integrated garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for 
the parking of motor vehicles and cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living 
accommodation without the prior express permission of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 

Page 18



6. No development shall commence until details of the refuse, cycle storage, lighting and security to 
the proposed apartments shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details shall be carried prior to the occupation of the proposed apartments 
and shall be maintained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

Highways (Precise wording to be confirmed at meeting)) 
 
7. Before development commences, details of an unfettered pedestrian and cycle access to and from 

adjacent land to the east. 
 

8. Before first occupation of any dwelling served by the relevant private drive, visibility splays shall be 
provided at private drives as shown on the Site Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 
Rev. C) and the Site Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-401 Rev. C). 

 
9. Before development commences, details of visibility splays at the junctions of the private drive to 

serve plots 886 to 888, and 933 to 934 with the proposed adopted highway. 
 

10. Before development commences, details of appropriate cycle stores for the apartment blocks. 
 

11. The proposed highway to the frontage of plot 981 shall be provided in accordance with the Site Plan 
– Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 Rev. C) and not in accordance with the Surface 
Materials Sheet 1 Drawing (No. 1671-08-02-441 Rev. C). 
 

12. Before development commences, details of design for the highway where pinch points are shown 
including a justification for any chicanes to be used, or their removal as necessary. 

 
13. Before development commences, appropriate details of proposed highway surfacing including any 

areas of block paving. 
 
14. Before development commences, at the locations of the vehicle access crossings to serve plots 

902, 969, and 977, details of appropriate revised locations for the up and down ramps of raised 
junction tables so as not to conflict with vehicle accesses. 

 
15. Before development commences, details of a footway on the northbound side of the carriageway 

between plots 926 (apartment) and 932. 
 
16. Before development commences, details of design of a scheme for highway trees including 

assessment of visibility splays, details of species, tree pits, impact on street lighting. 
 
17. Prior to first occupation of any permitted new dwelling, the parking area and turning areas for that 

dwelling shown on the Site Plan – Sheet 1 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-400 Rev. C) and the Site 
Plan – Sheet 2 of 3 (Drawing No. 1671-08-02-401 Rev. C) shall be provided and thereafter be 
retained for the life of the development for their designated purposes. 
 
Reasons: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 
 

 Informatives 
 

This consent will require approval under Section 7 of the Staffordshire Act 1983 and will require a 
Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Please contact Staffordshire County Council to ensure that 
approvals and agreements are secured before commencement of works. 
 
Advice from Staffordshire Police and Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service is attached to this 
decision. 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Application Number:  0129/2018 
 
Development:  Reserved matters application for the construction of 252 dwellings and 

associated landscaping and open space Phase 3 
 
Location:  Former Municipal Golf Course Eagle Drive Amington Tamworth 
 
Target Date: 08/12/2016 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 On 25

th
 January 2016 outline planning permission was granted subject to conditions and a section 

106 agreement for the demolition of clubhouse and construction of up to 1100 dwellings, primary 
school, local centre, parking, comprehensive green infrastructure comprising community woodland, 
community park, extension to local nature reserve, formal and informal open spaces, footpaths, 
cycleways, water areas (including enhancement to existing ponds and creating a sustainable urban 
drainage system), landscaping and vehicular access. 

 
1.2 This application represents detailed proposals for the third phase of that development. Phase three 

is located to the north of the site. The main access for this phase through the first phase which is 
accessed from Mercian Way and this will then provide access to the third phase of the development. 
 

1.3 As members are aware approval of reserved matters for the first phase were granted planning 
permission for 218 dwellings reference 0136/2016 at the Planning Committee on the 7

th
 June 2016 

and a further reserved matters for the second phase were granted planning permission reference 
0400/2016 for 254 dwelling at the Planning Committee on the 8

th
 November 2016. An application for 

an extension to the local nature reserve also recently has been approved reference 0220/2017 on 
the 6

th
 September 2017. 

 
1.4 Having accepted the principle of the development, by granting outline planning permission, 

members are now required to consider matters relating to layout, landscaping, scale and 
appearance. 

 
1.5 “layout” means the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 

provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside the 
development; 

 
1.5 “landscaping”, means the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 

protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes— 
 
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means; 
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; 
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; 
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public art; 

and 
(e) the provision of other amenity features; 
 

1.6 “scale” means the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings; 

 
1.7 “appearance” means the aspects of a building or place within the development which determines the 

visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the development, 
its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture; 

 
2 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal is for the erection of 252 dwellings on a site extending to 10.7 hectares (including all 

open space and roads) of this 2.65 hectares will be public open space. This equates to a gross 
density of 23.55 dwellings per hectare. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4b



2.2 The development includes 202 private houses and 50 affordable dwellings. The private housing 
comprises 68 (34%) two bedroom dwellings, 85 (42%) three bedroom dwellings, 31 (15%) four 
bedroom dwellings and 18 (9%) five bed dwellings. The affordable housing comprises 4 (8%) one 
bedroom dwellings, 35 (70%) two bedroom dwellings and 11 (22%) three bedroom dwellings this is 
20% of the overall in line with policy. In overall terms the mix is 2% one bed, 41% two bed, 38% 
three bed 19% four bed and five bed. 

2.3 The dwellings will be provided in one area, adjacent to phase 1 along the northern boundary and 
extending northwards towards the proposed extended local nature reserve. The layout of the 
scheme will incorporate a main spine road which loops round providing access to all the properties. 
This route will be traffic calmed to provide a safe living environment for residents.  

2.4 The scheme incorporates dedicated footpath and cycle links along both the eastern and western 
boundaries to enable direct and safe movement from north to south. Specific cyclepath provision is 
made for a connection between the intended development area and the proposed school on Eagle 
Drive. 

2.5 The proposal will involve the removal of a number of existing trees and shrubs, but where possible 
trees of high quality have been retained and incorporated into the layout. 

2.6 Consideration has been given to the incorporation of existing drainage ditches, and the provision of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems into the design and layout, utilising open space to assist in the 
delivery of these features where possible. 

2.7 The proposal includes areas of incidental open space and areas of play will be provided along the 
northern boundary within the extended local nature reserve all of which has been approved 
(reference 0220/2018).  

2.8 The dwellings are 2 storey in height, with a limited number of dwellings containing a bedroom within 
the roof space. They are of traditional design made of brick and render, and having tiled roofs. All 
dwellings, with the exception of the apartments have private garden space enclosed with wall/fence. 
The apartments have a communal space for residents. The apartments of which there are 3 blocks 
are three storey in height. 

3 Site and Surroundings 
 
3.1 The site comprises part of the former municipal golf course and has an undulating topography. The 

fairways to the course are mainly monoculture grass, but are edged with a mix of mature trees that 
predated the course and more recent planting carried out to facilitate the use of the land for golf. 

3.2 A route of a former railway line is a recognisable feature runs north/south through the site. This is a 
remnant of the mining activity that took place in the locality. A number of significant trees sit on this 
route. 

4 Key Issues 
 
4.1 The key issues are those applied for, namely 
 

 Layout 

 Landscaping (including ecology and biodiversity) 

 Scale 

 Appearance 

 Flood risk and surface water drainage 
 

Page 22



5 Conclusion 

 

5.1 It is considered that the details of layout, landscaping, scale and appearance of phase 3 of the 
development meet with expectations set out within the masterplan agreed at the outline planning 
application in terms of the location of the housing, the associated open space and infrastructure 
required to support the development.  

5.2 It is considered that the layout provides a road, cycleway and path network that fully supports the 
development proposed, with car parking provision adequate to meet the reasonable needs of the 
development in accordance with standards set out in Appendix C of the adopted Tamworth Local 
Plan 2006-2031. 

5.3 It is considered that the scale and appearance of the development is in keeping with the character 
of the area and is of a high quality in accordance with the requirements of the policy EN5 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

5.4 The landscaping of the scheme has been detailed in a manner that supports the masterplan, but 
also recognises the importance of retaining existing trees of quality and providing the basis for a 
improving the habitat by choosing appropriate tree, shrub and grass species. This is in accordance 
with policy EN3: Open Space and Green and Blue Links and policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity. 

 
Recommendation 

 
Approval with conditions 
 

 

Page 23



6 Relevant Site History 
 

0088/2015  
 

Outline application for the demolition of clubhouse and construction of up to 1100 dwellings, primary 
school, local centre, parking, comprehensive green infrastructure comprising community woodland, 
community park, extension to local nature reserve, formal and informal open spaces, footpaths, 
cycleways, water areas (including enhancement to existing ponds and creating a sustainable urban 
drainage system), landscaping and vehicular access - Approved subject to conditions and a S106 
agreement 25

th
 January 2016. 

 
0086/2016  
 
Discharge of conditions 6 (Design Code), 7 (Landscape Strategy), 8 (Phasing Plan), 9 (Tree 
Removal/Protection Plan), 10 (Foul & Surface Water Drainage) and 11 (S.U.D.S) of planning 
permission 0088/2015 
 
0136/2016  
 
Reserved matters application for the construction of 218 dwellings and associated landscaping and 
open space Phase 1 – Approved 1

st
 July 2016 

 
0400/2016  
 
Reserved matters application for construction of 254 dwellings and associated landscaping and 
open space Phase 2 – Approved  

 
 0220/2017 
 
 Reserved matters application for Nature Reserve Extension – Approved 5

th
 September 2017 

 
7 Consultation Responses 
 
7.1 Staffordshire County Council (Highways) 
 
 Concern that the proposed layout at present does not clarify the swept paths and road width.  
 
 However, amended plans have been submitted which may overcome these concerns. 
 
7.2 Staffordshire County Council (School Organisation) 
 

This development falls within the catchments of Amington Heath Community School and Landau 
Forte Academy- Amington.  
 
The relevant Outline Application for this site is 0088/2015. The REM application details a 
development which is scheduled to provide a further 252 dwellings of the 1100 dwellings expected 
from the original outline approval. The previous REMs were 0400/2016 providing 256 dwellings, 
0396/2017 additional 4 dwellings, 0240/2017 additional 3 dwellings and 0136/2016 providing 218 
dwellings.   
 
A Section 106 Agreement was signed when the Outline Application was granted, and the education 
contribution amount and terms should be calculated in line with this. In summary those triggered 
through these REM’s are: 
 
Primary Contribution  
 
The developer will pay £570,000 Index Linked prior to the commencement of the development, 
£1,780,000 Index Linked prior to commencement of the 100

th
 Dwelling, £2,100,000 Index Linked 

prior to commencement of the 250
th
 Dwelling and £2,100,000 Index Linked prior to commencement 

of the 550
th
 Dwelling. 

 
Secondary Contribution  
 

Page 24



The developer will pay 10% of the secondary school contribution (total £3,490,620) prior to 
commencement of the development, 15% prior to commencement of the 110

th
 Dwelling, 25% prior 

to commencement of the 250
th
 Dwelling and 25% prior to commencement of the 500

th
 Dwelling. 

 
7.3 Staffordshire County Council (Ecologist) 
 

The Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and Phase 3 Ecological Update Report 
have provided suitable information to meet concerns expressed for the previous application. These 
can be approved. These have now been completed satisfactorily. Tree, bat and badger protection 
measures are adequately covered in the Phase 3 EUR and CEMP.  
 
Look forward to receiving the Landscape Management Plan, public open space design details and 
lighting plans required by conditions 21, 24 and 27 respectively as these affect ecology. The 
applicant should be asked to consider increasing bird and bat box provision. 
 

7.4 Staffordshire County Council (Local Lead Flood Authority) 
 
The development will only be acceptable subject to a planning condition requiring the provision of 
the Sustainable Drainage scheme within a period of time.   
 

7.5 North Warwickshire Borough Council 

 
As you are aware the land to the immediate east is an allocated housing site within the Borough and 
a planning application is anticipated to be received within the next couple of months.  

 
One of the issues that arises is thus the necessity to ensure that there is appropriate connectivity 
between the two site. The Council therefore requests that your Council should be providing for 
pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access points within the layout for this reserved matters site. If not, 
then your Council should provide an adequate explanation as to why these cannot be achieved.  

 
7.6 Joint Waste Services 
 

General requirements in relation to waste facility requirements provided.  Refuse vehicles will not be 
taken onto private drives/roads unless indemnified to do so 

 
7.7 Staffordshire Police (Architectural Liaison Officer) 
 

Response received outlining general points, standard requirements for new housing development. 
These will be sent to the developer as an informative. 

 
8 Additional Representations 
 
8.1 Neighbouring properties have been consulted however no letters of objections have been received 

as part of the application process. 
 

9 Planning Considerations 
 
9.1 The grant of outline planning permission with conditions and a S106 agreement means that the 

principle has already been agreed. Notwithstanding this position there are a number of detailed 
matters subject to conditions imposed and these are being assessed alongside this “reserved 
matters” application (see section 6 above). In some instances there will be some overlap between 
what is being addressed in considering discharge of conditions and the current application. 

The key issues to be considered at this stage are  
 

 Policy context 

 Layout 

 Scale and appearance 

 Landscaping (including ecology and biodiversity) 

 Flood risk and surface water drainage 
 

9.2 Policy context 

Page 25



9.2.1 In considering the issues listed above reference has to be made to the provisions of the adopted 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. In this regard there are site specific policies and more generic 
policies that are applicable. 

9.2.2 Policy HG2 is a site specific policy and its contents were fully considered at the outline planning 
application. Its provisions considered the wider impact of the development and the necessary 
infrastructure required to support the development. The requirements of this policy have led to 
conditions being applied to the outline planning consent and a S106 to deliver the infrastructure. 

 
9.2.3 Policy HG5 Housing Mix requires that in granting planning permission for residential development, 

housing sizes and types that reflect local needs will be secured. 
 

Proposals for housing development should achieve the following mix of units: 
 

 4% of new housing will be 1 bedroom sized units 

 42% of new housing will be 2 bedroom sized units 

 39% of new housing will be 3 bedroom sized units 

 15% of new housing will be 4 bedroom or more sized units 
 

The proposals now before the authority provide 2% one bed, 41% two bed, 38% three bed 19% four 
bed and five bed. It is considered that given that this proposal represents approximately 20% of the 
overall total of 1100 proposed at the former golf course site there is sufficient flexibility available to 
ensure that the overall aspirations for the Borough are achieved. 

9.2.4 Policy HG6 Housing Density requires that new residential development will make efficient and 
effective use of land, while enhancing the character and quality of the area it is located in. Where 
viable and appropriate to the local context and character it will be expected to achieve the following 
densities on the sites net developable area of between 30 and 40 dwellings per hectare. The Plan 
indicates that the net developable area for sites over 2 hectare is 60% of the gross area. On this 
basis, and using a gross developable area of 10.6 hectare (net developable area of 8.05 hectare), 
the density would be 31.3 dwellings per hectare. 

 
9.2.5 Policy EN5 Design of New Development is of particular relevance and expects that high quality 

buildings and places will be achieved across Tamworth with particular attention paid to the 
enhancement of the town centre, conservation areas, the Sustainable Urban Extensions and 
Regeneration Priority Areas. Poor design or design that fails to take the opportunities available to 
improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions will be refused. 

 
New developments will be expected to: 
 
a) Respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics but 
without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area. 
b) Take into account the impact of the proposal on the significance of heritage assets. 
c) Be of a scale, layout, form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of the 
development. 
d) Utilise materials and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the 
development. 
e) Be outward facing with active frontages which incorporate landscaping and boundary treatments 
appropriate to the local context. 
f) Be legible and allow users to navigate the area with ease by providing landmark buildings at key 
locations and a choice of routes to walk, cycle or drive along. 
g) Minimise or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants 
of neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable 
noise, pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. 
h) Pay particular regard to highway safety and servicing requirements, the capacity of the local road 
network and the adopted parking standards set out in Appendix C. 
i) Incorporate landscaping appropriate to the site, using native species wherever possible. 
j) Maximise health benefits through the incorporation of usable open space and footpaths and links 
to the wider green infrastructure network, in accordance with Policy EN3. 

 
 
 
 

Page 26



9.3. Layout 
 
9.3.1 The use of prominent buildings in key locations assists with legibility, meaning that people unfamiliar 

with the area can navigate around without difficulty. In negotiations with the applicant officers have 
successfully improved the quality of the boundary treatments, providing quality and character to the 
development. 

 
9.3.2 The road network has been designed, and where necessary revised to ensure that large vehicles 

can pass through the estate, but at a speed commensurate with the residential area. This has 
involved the introduction of traffic calming measures (NB not speed bumps) in appropriate locations. 

 
9.3.3 All properties will have car parking provision in accordance with the requirements set out in the 

Tamworth Local Plan. The majority of parking is provided in curtilage, but where his is not achieved 
it is located in convenient locations close to the front door of the property. 

 
9.3.4 In drawing up the masterplan for the development at the outline planning application stage great 

care was taken to ensure that movement around the site was achievable by a variety of methods. 
The masterplan included a network of paths and cycleways to facilitate this movement. These 
features have been delivered in the first phase application with clear and negotiable routes across 
the site, ensuring that key facilities such as the school, community facilities and open spaces are 
well linked. 

 
9.3.5 Some concerns have been raised from highways relating to minor points in terms of the layout an 

update will be provided at the meeting relating to this highway matter. 
 

9.4 Scale and appearance 
 
9.4.1 Your officers have fully considered the importance of policy EN5 and their discussions with the 

applicant have resulted in a number of revisions to the original submitted scheme.  
 
9.4.2 Notwithstanding the fact that the applicants have chosen traditional designs for the dwellings they 

have agreed to changes to the roof design of a number of the properties to ensure a consistency of 
design. In addition great care has been taken to ensure that corner plots are designed in an 
appropriate manner which recognises the fact they have 2 principle elevations, to create active 
frontages avoiding blank gables. Care has also been taken to ensure that open spaces are subject 
to natural surveillance, making them safer for residents and people passing through the 
development. Materials have also been chosen with care. 

 
9.4.3  It is considered that the dwellings are of a scale which is in keeping with the local vernacular, being 

of 2 storey in height. This arrangement, with the undulating topography, will ensure that an 
interesting and varied living environment is created. 

 
9.4.4 Following early consideration of the application at the Planning Committee in March has been given 

the design and appearance of the block flats to the northern end of the side. This apartment is a 3 
storey block and has been designed to provide a landmark adjacent to the open space and at the 
northern end of the site. The flats are large executive properties measuring approximately 87-99 
square metres each (average house is 70 squared metres). This includes lift facilities and cycle 
stores. The hipped roof design, string course, window details, balconies and chimneys create a high 
quality design and layout. The position of the windows facing onto the adjacent footpath, open 
space and car park provides active elevation around the scheme. These apartments are all 
proposed to be open market housing and are aimed at the exclusive end of the market. Officers 
consider that the design and scale of the apartments will provide a positive design that is in keeping 
with the adjacent two storey dwellings. 

 
9.5 Landscaping (including ecology and biodiversity) 
 
9.5.1 The open spaces shown on the reserved matter application reflect those sought in the masterplan, 

and ensure the delivery of a balanced community where the housing does not dominate the area. 
Notwithstanding this fact it is clear to your officers that the development of a former golf course will 
have a visual impact on the area and in particular those residents who live adjacent to the site and 
overlook it. In this regard the buffers around the edge of the site have been maintained strictly in 
accordance with the masterplan what was agreed at the outline planning stage. This provides a 25-
40 metre buffer along the western edge of Turnberry and 15-30 metre buffer along the northern 
edge of Turnberry. The belt of trees along these boundaries are to be retained. 

Page 27



 
9.5.2 Overall, the landscaping provides the retention of mature trees, in accordance with the 

recommendation the Council’s Tree Officer. This scheme creates visually pleasing appearance 
when within and adjacent to the scheme. The landscaping scheme echoes the improvements made 
within the Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the scheme and reinforces the proposed scheme approved 
previously.   

 
9.5.3 The open space is generally in accordance with the overall masterplan of the scheme which 

includes elongated linear open space linking the site towards the extended local nature reserve to 
the north of the scheme. All the formal play facilities are proposed within the extended nature 
reserve. The proposal cycle and footpath network provides links between the south and north of the 
site and a diagonal footpath is proposed across the site towards the centre of the northern open 
space. The hierarchy, position and routes of the footpaths meet the aspirations of officers. 

 
9.6 Flood risk and surface water drainage 
 
9.6.1 Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management requires all new development, to demonstrate that 

there is no increased risk of flooding to existing properties and shall seek to improve existing flood 
risk management there is no objection from the Staffordshire County Council (Local Lead Flood 
Authority) in respect of this application.  

 
10 Conclusion 
 
10.1 It is considered that the details of layout, landscaping, scale and appearance of phase 3 of the 

development meet with expectations set out within the masterplan agreed at the outline planning 
application in terms of the location of the housing, the associated open space and infrastructure 
required to support the development.  

10.2 It is considered that the layout provides a road, cycleway and path network that fully supports the 
development proposed, with car parking provision adequate to meet the reasonable needs of the 
development in accordance with standards set out in Appendix C of the adopted Tamworth Local 
Plan 2006-2031. 

10.3 It is considered that the scale and appearance of the development is in keeping with the character 
of the area and is of a high quality in accordance with the requirements of the policy EN5 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

10.4 The landscaping of the scheme has been detailed in a manner that supports the masterplan, but 
also recognises the importance of retaining existing trees of quality and providing the basis for a 
improving the habitat by choosing appropriate tree, shrub and grass species. This is in accordance 
with policy EN3: Open Space and Green and Blue Links and policy EN4: Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity. 

 
Conditions / Reasons 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings and documents including the recommendations and specifications contained therein 
insofar as they do not prejudice the discharge of conditions attached to the original outline 
permission 0088/2015 or those below. 

  

Drawing(s) Reference(s) 

Design Statement 1671-DS03  

Site Plan Overview 1671-08-02-300 and 1671-08-02-310 

Location Plan 1671-08-02-320 

Site sections 1671-08-02-316, 1671-08-02-317 

Proposed finished floor levels P3-SK301 

Landscaping 6861.100-110 and 6861.002 

Walls and fences 1671-08-02-321, 1671-08-02-131 Open spaces 
enclosures 

Vehicle tracking plan TR-P2.1, TR-P2.2.  

Highway adoption  1671-08-02-330A  

Street Scenes 1671-08-02-313A, 1671-08-02-314A  

Page 28



House types  B3 Brick and render, B13 and B13 Special, B14, 
B16, B17 and B17 Special, C1, C2 Brick and render, 
C3 Brick, C4+ Brick and render, C7 & C7 CNR, C10 
Special, C11 Brick and render, C15 & C23 and C15 
& C23 Special, C16, C18, C20, C21, C22, C22 
Special, C24 Special D1 Brick, D2 Brick, D2 Special, 
D3 Brick, D5 Brick, D6 Brick and Render E1 Brick, 
E1 Special, E2 Brick, B1 & C5 Brick and render, B1 
& C5 Brick and render Special, B2 & C12 Brick and 
render, B11 & B8, B11 & B8 Special,  C10& C14, 
Apartments A3, B6, B7, A4&B10, B8 & B12 

Garage types GAR01_901 Single, GAR10_903 Twin, GAR12_905 
Double garage 

Materials 1671-08-02-311 

Ecology Phase 3 CEMP 
Ecological Survey  

 
Reason: To define this permission. 

 
2. Prior to the occupation of any permitted dwelling the parking and turning areas for that dwelling shall 

be provided. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained at all times for their 
designated purposes.  

 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety as recommended by the Highway Authority in 
accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
3. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping and boundary 

treatment approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the setting and visual appearance of the development, and in 
accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order), no 
walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall be erected forward of the principal elevations and 
side elevations of the dwelling, or boundary walls or fences to those dwelling, except as authorised 
under the submitted application, without the prior grant of planning permission on an application 
made in that regard to the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to maintain the character of street, public space and adjacent footpath as secured 
under the plans hereby approved in accordance with Policy EN5 Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D and E of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-
enacting that Order), The integrated garages indicated on the approved plans shall be retained for 
the parking of motor vehicles and cycles. They shall at no time be converted to living 
accommodation without the prior express permission of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with Policies EN5 and SU2 of the 
Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6. No development shall commence until details of the refuse, cycle storage, lighting and security to 

the proposed apartments shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details shall be carried prior to the occupation of the proposed apartments 
and shall be maintained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 Page 29



7. No more than 29 dwellings of the development hereby approved plan shall be occupied as indicated 
by the drainage plan P3_SK_302. Surface water drainage shall be provided in the interim as 
indicated by the plan P3_SK_302.  The remainder of the development hereby permitted shall not be 
occupied until such time as a scheme of Sustainable Drainage been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  
- The regional attenuation facility (Consisting of first flush basin, sedimentation bed, reed bed, bio 
pool, final flow control structures and outfall channel works) needs to be hydraulically operational 
and the flows from Phase 1 and 2 need to be diverted through to this facility before any house can 
be occupied.  
- This forms the water quality treatment element of the surface water drainage for the majority of the 
site and the design of these attenuation elements will also need to be approved as well.  
- Otherwise the design should follow the principles of the original FRA for the development and the 
Technical Design Note AAC 5267 produced by RPS in July 2016 and we will need to see hydraulic 
calculations.  
- It will need to be confirmed what the final overall discharge rates from the site to receiving 
watercourses will be and that all adjacent properties are at least 300mm above the 100yr + Climate 
Change flood levels predicted in the Eastern Watercourse.  

 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing 
/ phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from 
the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.  

 
 

 

Page 30



Application for consideration:

0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

Reserved Matters application for the construction of

215 dwellings and associated landscaping and open

space relating to Phase 4 of the development

Officer Recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 31

A
genda A

nnex



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 32



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 33



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 34



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 35



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 36



0012/2019 – Former Golf Course

P
age 37



Application for consideration:

0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

Reserved Matters application for the construction of 91

dwellings and associated landscaping and open space

relating to Phase 4 (Harwood) of the development

Officer recommendation:

Approve with conditions

P
age 38



0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

P
age 39



0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

P
age 40



0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

P
age 41



0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

P
age 42



0556/2018 – Former Golf Course

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4a Application 0012/2019 Reserved Matters for 215 dwellings and associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4 a&b Former Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive
	4b Application 0556/2018 Reserved Matters for 91 dwellings and associated landscaping and open space relating to Phase 4c Former Municipal Golf Course, Eagle Drive
	 Presentation pack attached - 07.09.2021

